
Museum Management Working Group

Date: Wednesday, 28th November, 2018
Time: 6.00 pm
Venue: Committee Room - Council Offices, London Road, Saffron Walden, 

Essex CB11 4ER

Chairman: Councillor R Chambers
Members: Councillors B Light, V Ranger, G Sell and L Wells

R Priestley, P Salvidge, P Walker and T Watson (Museum Society)

AGENDA
PART 1

Open to Public and Press

1 Apologies for Absence and Declarations of Interest

To receive any apologies for absence and declarations of interest.

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 5 - 8

To consider the minutes of the previous meeting. 

3 Museum Society Chairman's Report 9 - 10

To consider the Museum Society Chairman's Report.

4 Museum Curator's Quarterly Report July-Septmeber 2018 11 - 22

To consider the Museum Curator's Quarterly Report for July to 
Septmeber 2018.

5 Any Other Items the Chairman Considers to be Urgent

To consider any other items.

Public Document Pack



6 Date and Time of Next Meeting

To consider the date and time of the next meeting. 



For information about this meeting please contact Democratic Services
Telephone: 01799 510369 or 510548 
Email: Committee@uttlesford.gov.uk

General Enquiries
Council Offices, London Road, Saffron Walden, CB11 4ER

Telephone: 01799 510510
Fax: 01799 510550

Email: uconnect@uttlesford.gov.uk
Website: www.uttlesford.gov.uk

mailto:Committee@uttlesford.gov.uk
mailto:uconnect@uttlesford.gov.uk
http://www.uttlesford.gov.uk/




MUSEUM MANAGEMENT WORKING GROUP held at COMMITTEE ROOM - 
COUNCIL OFFICES, LONDON ROAD, SAFFRON WALDEN, ESSEX CB11 
4ER, on MONDAY, 10 SEPTEMBER 2018 at 6.00 pm

Present: Councillor R Chambers (Chairman)
Councillors G Sell and L Wells

Also present: T Watson, R Priestley and P Walker (Museum Society 
Representatives)

Officers in 
attendance:

R Auty (Assistant Director - Corporate Services), A Mawson 
(Democratic Services Officer) and C Wingfield (Curator - Saffron 
Walden Museum)

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ranger and Light, the 
Director of Finance and Corporate Services and Paul Salvidge

2   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting held on 8 May were approved and signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record, subject to amending ‘Paul’ to ‘Peter’ in Minute 
MMG22.

3   MUSEUM SOCIETY CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 

The Working Group considered the report from the Chairman of the Museum 
Society.

4   QUARTERLY REPORT: APRIL - JUNE 2018 

The Working Group considered the quarterly report from the Curator. The 
Curator drew to the Group’s attention the following specific points.

Staffing 

The Learning Officer, Charlotte Pratt, had settled in.  James Lumbard started in 
April as a job share with Sarah Kenyon in the Natural Sciences Officer post, and 
already has ideas for exhibitions next year. The new Collections Officer (Human 
History), Jennifer Oxley, is now in post following the departure of Leah Mellors. 

Volunteers

A special thank you had been given to all the volunteers for their hard work.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Buildings and site

The air conditioning unit in the Museum’s natural history store had broken down 
in April but had been repaired.  The store had had an outbreak of moths, which 
was directly attributed to the failure of the air conditioning unit. The appropriate 
pest control measures had been taken. 

The cleaning schedule had been revised and hard floors had been given a deep 
clean and buff to keep them in good condition. This amounted to an additional 
one hour of cleaning time per week.

The newly-formed Saffron Walden Heritage Development Group was looking to 
raise funds for re interpretation boards at the ‘Battle Ditches’, offering scope for 
promotion in partnership with the Castle and Museum site in 2019.

Collections

The Curator gave an update regarding the ‘Piano Hoard’ the piano had been 
purchased and moved.  The Museum was working towards display and launch.  
The curator said it was a good and interesting unsolved local story.

There had been no items loaned out during the period of the report.  

The railway sign had been returned to its owner. However the Museum had 
other signs that could fill the space. 

The taxidermy exhibition had proved popular and had received mentions in the 
Guardian Guide and two London area art scene apps.

Income 

Income from Learning and Outreach services totalled £1066.66.

New product lines had been added to the shop and visitor spending per head 
has increased by 4p.

Education, events and outreach

School visits and loan boxes were going well.  Some year groups had been too 
large to accommodate hence the requirement to extend. 

The Curator thanked Councillor Wells for her support with the ‘Bake Off’ event.

Discussion took place about the reminiscence boxes. These could be loaned out 
to homes, carers and families. They were created in ‘decades’ and the 1940’s 
box had been very well received. 

Visitor figures

The Museum had been quiet in the heatwave.  This had been a common 
experience for a lot of museums across the region. 

Page 6



The Museum would be focusing on social media now that it had its full 
complement of staff. 

Members praised the work of the Museum and volunteers. Cllr Sell offered up 
some ideas for promotion of the museum with schools, local groups and care 
homes, and the Curator was invited to approach him outside the meeting to 
discuss further. 

5   MUSEUM'S FORWARD PLAN, HERITAGE LOTTERY FUND AND 
ACCREDITATION (VERBAL UPDATE) 

The Curator said that The Museum had not yet heard anything relating to the 
timetable for accreditation.  However the delay gave a good opportunity to settle 
in the new staff. There is a 6-month wait from when the letter is received. 

The Museum had received some confusing feedback in relation to its initial 
submission to the Resilient Heritage Lottery Fund. It appeared they might view 
the Museum as an independent rather than a local authority museum.  Now that 
vacant posts had been filled the Curator would take this matter up with the 
Lottery Fund. 

There was a very clear correlation between school visits and visitor numbers. 
This correlation related to capacity. The visits had declined with the loss of the 
previous Learning Officer. Now there was a new officer in post it was expected 
that there would be an increase in numbers again. 

Income at the shop had increased, possibly due to the fact that the new Admin 
Officer had a background in finance. The initiatives taken had included tailoring 
displays to exhibitions, and securing some excellent supplier deals. 

The Curator said that there would be greater potential for the Museum with the 
planned extension.

Some schools no longer allowed their pupils to buy souvenirs on school visits; 
therefore there had been a change in the profile of customers.  Some work 
would be carried out to identify different items available for sale in order to target 
a different audience. 

Councillor Chambers thanked Museum staff and volunteers.

6   DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 

The date of the next meeting would be decided once the Democratic Services 
Officer had been able to investigate room availability.

The meeting ended at 6.40pm. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Museum Management Working Group
Meeting 28th November 2018

Museum Society Chairman’s Report

We were pleased to welcome Jennifer (Jenny) Oxley who took her appointment as Collections Officer 
(Human History) in August.   On 10th August we previewed the exhibition Worlds under glass: 
Adventures in taxidermy curated by Charlotte Pratt and helped by Sarah Kenyon and James Lumbard.   
Jenny Oxley then presented on the 5th October the current exhibition Collections Re-Crafted.  We 
welcomed members of the Eastern Region Textile Forum who have provided the majority of the 
objects on display.   The Piano in which the gold coins were found has now been delivered to the 
museum and will be displayed at a meeting on the 30th November. 

Our winter series of talks began in September with Charlotte Pratt showing us how to get involved in 
taxidermy.  In October we heard about the Archaeology dig at the Crematorium site in Great 
Chesterford.  In November we heard about the great war through the eyes of women poets.  Thank you 
Paul Salvidge for such a varied and interesting set of talks so far. 

The change of ‘General Data Protection Regulations’ and in particular the action taken by the Board to 
ensure that the Museum Society complies has now been completed.   It has reminded us that the articles 
of the society as a company limited by guarantee contain a liability on members to provide a limited 
£10 contribution in the event of a deficit of funds in the winding up of the company.   Our current 
assets include the value of the Museum Buildings and the lease on the Shirehill store and a very healthy 
balance in investments and in the bank.  

Now that the Museum has been restored to full staff the Curator and the Development Committee will 
be in action early next year in moving forward the planning for the next developments of the Museum.  
Meanwhile, volunteers will be busy in November and December in helping arrangements for the re-
decoration on the Ceramics Gallery.   November’s object of the month will be the British Legion 
standard recently donated to the museum following its laying up.

Keith Eden recently accepted an invitation to join the Board as a Director and will be formally appointed at the 
next Board Meeting on the 29th January.  

  Tony Watson

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



SAFFRON WALDEN MUSEUM CURATOR’S QUARTERLY REPORT  July – September 2018 

1

1 Museum Management and Staff

1.1 Management

Museum Service
The return to a full complement of curatorial posts towards the end of this quarter has been very welcome 
and will allow the Museum to pick up its long-term development plans again. Otherwise a significant theme 
this quarter has been special exhibitions and other planned changes to displays, and advance planning for 
the Museum’s 2019 programme.

Forward Plan
We still await news from the Arts Council England of the timetable for our mid-term Accreditation Review. 
With the return to a full team of staff towards the end of the quarter, the Curator is now expecting to revive 
the dialogue with the Heritage Lottery Fund on proposed grant applications and developments.

1.2 Staff, Volunteers and Work Experience

Staff
We welcomed Jenny Oxley who took up the post of Collections Officer (Human History) in August and has 
much valuable experience to bring to the Museum. The Museum Service is also making changes, within 
existing budgets, to the way in which weekends and Bank Holidays are staffed, and much preparatory work 
involving other Council and senior Museum staff has been necessary to achieve this. Hitherto the Museum 
has relied entirely on a team of casual-contract (i.e. zero-hours contract) Museum Assistants to fill the rota 
for weekend and Bank Holiday opening (working alongside a member of permanent Museum staff on 
Saturdays. However there have been a number of issues with this system in recent years and two members 
of the casual team have also left. We are therefore moving to a system used by similar local authority 
museum services, by creating two new permanent posts of Museum Visitor Assistant (Weekends and Bank 
Holidays) to cover a large proportion of core weekend hours and stabilise weekend and Bank Holiday 
opening, while retaining the existing small team of experienced casual Museum Assistants to cover 
remaining shifts and leave. The recruitment process is being rolled out from 1 October, and initially the new 
posts will be ring-fenced to allow members of the casual-contract Museum Assistants team to apply for a 
permanent post of they so wish, otherwise their casual contract continue unaffected.

Volunteers

Volunteers Estimated 
Hours

Collections volunteers and exhibition work
Paula Armstrong, Peter Morrissey, Joanne Pegrum, Richard Priestley, Peter Rooley, Peter 
Stribling and Ron Lowe have assisted with a variety of tasks this quarter, including 
dismantling From the Hazeley Brick Earth exhibition of agricultural history, moving taxidermy 
specimens for the installation and de-installation of Worlds Under Glass exhibition, 
preparation of the gallery for the Eastern Region Textile Forum (ERTF) Collections Re-Crafted 
Exhibition and taking a delivery of archaeological archives at the Shirehill store.

62

Jane and David Laing have worked on the Evelyn Coleman diaries, checking for locally-
relevant entries and summarizing the contents of each diary

40

Natural Sciences volunteers
Heather Douglas has been updating records in Modes Complete. Julia Wentworth also Page 11

Agenda Item 4



SAFFRON WALDEN MUSEUM CURATOR’S QUARTERLY REPORT  July – September 2018 

2

assisted with documentation, care of the stick insects and identification of specimens.
Verges volunteers Peter Hanson, Tony Morton, Ken Rivett Mike, Rowley, Margaret Rufus and 
Heather and Paul Salvidge completed ecological surveys at 23 special roadside verges sites.

47

Learning & Outreach Volunteers
Learning volunteers’ input including regular volunteering to work on the education store and 
collections and help with children’s activities

40

Admin volunteers
Mary Adams provides invaluable support with the financial administration, working regularly 
at least 5 hours per week. Ian Sharpe also continues to put in regular hours 

91

Welcome Desk volunteers
The Welcome Desk volunteers are the ‘Face of the Museum’ they provide a friendly welcome 
for visitors; sell tickets and merchandise; provide information about the museum and direct 
enquiries to members of staff. 

468

Total hours contributed by all volunteers for this quarter 748

Other Volunteer news
We said a fond farewell to Mary Knight, who has retired after over 40 years voluntary service and Cath 
Stukey who moved to Hampshire.  We continue to extend our warm get well wishes to our three Welcome 
Desk volunteers currently on long term sick leave.  

1.3   Training and Seminars Attended

Date Course and Staff
13 Sept iTrent HR system by Claire Croft, Natural Sciences Officer S Kenyon.
13 Sept iTrent HR system by Claire Croft, Visitor Services and Admin Officer WJ Atter.
13 Sept Fire warden training arranged by Chris Smith, Natural Sciences Officer, J Lumbard.
27 Sept MODES Administrator training, Natural Sciences Officer J Lumbard.

1.4   Health & Safety

Possible trip hazards from broken concrete manhole cover surrounds and damaged bricks edging the drive 
have been significantly reduced, but further work is planned.

2 Buildings and Site

2.1 Museum Building

External work on ivy
Lewis Merle, Property Surveyor (Council) organised contractors to remove the substantial growth of ivy on 
the NW side of the Museum building. This was achieved by contractors abseiling from the museum roof and 
involved liaison with Castle Street residents in properties affected below. 

Internal work
Several emergency lights in the Museum have been replaced this quarter. It is usually the internal batteries 
that fail, but as they are not replaceable, new units are fitted.

Page 12



SAFFRON WALDEN MUSEUM CURATOR’S QUARTERLY REPORT  July – September 2018 

3

A new LED light projector has been purchased for the Egyptian Gallery. It will feed the fibre optic cables in 
the same way as the present halogen unit, but should give an improved light output and eliminate the 
problem of very short bulb life. It is to be installed in the near future.

2.3 Shirehill Store
During one spell of torrential rain, there was an ingress of water under the loading bay door around the 
hearse and hay wagon. The drainage channel across the front of the store tends to become blocked by dirt 
and debris from the Depot yard, and on this occasion a Council cleaner who was working at the Depot 
kindly cleared the gutter and aftermath of the flood water.

2.4 Grounds and Castle Site

Castle site
During the long hot dry period this summer, Council staff regularly watered the turf on the top of the Castle 
walls to ensure its survival. Recent rain has mitigated this issue, but encouraged renewed weed growth. 

Driveway
Areas of the raised edge brickwork lining both sides of the Museum drive have become dislodged or 
damaged. The worst area on the inner bend has recently been repaired by Council contractors, but further 
areas also require attention. A quote for this work has been supplied.

3 Collections and Research

3.1 Acquisitions and Disposals
35 new acquisitions have been recorded in the accessions register this quarter, including:

 The retiring 2nd standard of the Saffron Walden Branch of the Royal British Legion
 A human skull from excavations c. 1970 at Wicken Bonhunt, which had moved with previous staff of 

Wicken House and has now been re-united with the human remains from the Saxon cemetery
 Archaeological archives (finds and paper records) from work on 18 sites in Uttlesford, by 

Archaeological Solutions Ltd (deposited 20 September). This will bring in a deposition grant of 
£1,259.68 ex VAT towards documentation and curation costs..

The Piano Hoard
The piano arrived safely from Ludlow on 2 August and arrangements are in hand for the display of the 
piano, the sample of 12 coins and the coin packaging, to be launched with an evening reception for all 
supporters involved on 30 November. An initial inspection has been made by a piano tuner, and a local 
pianist and sound recordist engaged to record the piano being played, and to provide appropriate musical 
entertainment at the reception. The Collections Officer (Human History) has designed a display panel and 
sourced a very good deal on a second-hand high-security display case for the coins.

3.2  Collections Care and Conservation

Insurance Valuations
The Curator and Museum Collections Valuations Trust (who are providing the grant to fund this work) are 
bringing pressure to bear on the valuer to finalise the report and complete his suppliers’ form for payment.

Plaster Frieze damaged
Overnight on Monday 24 September a framed plaster frieze fell off its bracket on the wall of the Local Page 13



SAFFRON WALDEN MUSEUM CURATOR’S QUARTERLY REPORT  July – September 2018 

4

History gallery, but thankfully sustained only minor and superficial damage to the frame and frieze (surface 
chipping and small crack).  Maintenance will be undertaken and then it will go back on display. 

Insect Pests
Natural Sciences Officer Sarah Kenyon examined museum pest traps in September. Carpet beetle larvae and 
moths were found in the natural history store, inorganics store, geology gallery, entrance to natural history 
gallery diorama case, temporary exhibition gallery and workroom.  Floors of those stores and galleries have 
been cleaned and sprayed with pesticide. Taxidermy specimens on display in the Worlds under Glass 
exhibition were fumigated before they went back into storage. A programme to clean and de-clutter the 
workroom is planned. New moth traps have been installed in stores and galleries by the Premises Officer.

3.3  Documentation
 
Backlog / updates New 

Acquisitions
Backlog (existing collections not 
previously catalogued on Modes)

Edits and Updates 
to existing 
records

Human history collections 35 200 100
Natural sciences collections 0 23 169
Total 35 223 269

Effective Collections (World Cultures project) 
Still on hold waiting for the Curator to have time to dedicate to moving this project on.

3.4  Loans In
The Saffron Walden railway sign, on loan for display in the Local History gallery for many years, was 
returned to its owner in July.  Loans in for the special exhibitions From the Hazeley Brick Earth (Jan-July 
2018) and Worlds Under Glass (August-September) were returned.  40 textile artworks arrived in September 
for the ERTF exhibition which will run from October to February.  

 3.5  Loans Out
None this quarter.

 3.6        Object Identification and Enquiries
Object identifications this quarter:  7 identification enquiries (17 objects and specimens) 

 Fish-shaped wooden Mancala game board 
 William III farthing
 Crotal bell c. 1600
 Roman coin, late 3rd Century AD
 8 doubles coin Guernsey 1869
 Calcaneus (heel bone) from Cow
 Jurassic fossils Gryphaea mollusc shell and part of a large ammonite

Collections Enquiries this quarter:  70

3.7 Research
8 researchers this quarter, including 

 Maori musical instruments (shell trumpets)Page 14



SAFFRON WALDEN MUSEUM CURATOR’S QUARTERLY REPORT  July – September 2018 

5

 Norman bone flutes from Wicken Bonhunt
 Ancient Egyptian double block statue of Wenen-Nefer and Taweret-Nofret
 Geology collections viewed at Museum and Shirehill store by sculptor Kabir Hussain
 First World War Centenary
 Saffron Walden Pageant 1910

4  Displays and Visitor Services
4.1 Permanent Galleries
Object of the Month featured a group of pottery vessels from late Iron Age burials in Little Hallingbury, a red 
squirrel from Saffron Walden and fossil ray teeth in chalk rock. 

Curiosity Corner, an initiative by the Learning & Outreach Officer, has featured displays on carnivorous 
plants, Cacti and succulents. 

4.2      Temporary Exhibitions 
The Museum’s extensive collection of historic taxidermy had a welcome airing in Worlds Under Glass: 
Adventures in Taxidermy which opened with a private view on 10 August. The exhibition was developed and 
written by Charlotte Pratt, Learning & Outreach Officer with the assistance of Natural Sciences Officers 
Sarah Kenyon and James Lumbard. It surveyed our long and complex relationship with taxidermy in all its 
historic, scientific and cultural manifestations.  The exhibition featured a short video of a specimen being 
prepared by renowned taxidermist Derek Frampton.  It attracted the attention of some London media, 
appearing in the front of The Guardian Guide and on several apps. The exhibition closed on 23 September 
and will be followed by Collections Re-Crafted, an exhibition of textile art by 30 artists from the Eastern 
Region Textile Forum, who have taken inspiration from Saffron Walden and the Museum’s collections.

4.3  Visitor Services 

Public Schools incl. adults Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

July 652 1281 123 49 775 1330
Aug 1718 1770 0 0 1718 1770
Sept 822 823 0 189 822 1012
Total 3192 3874 123 238 3315 4112

Donations
2018 2017

July
Aug 63.88
Sept 65.62
Total £ 129.50 197.27

Tickets
2018 2017

July 814.75 1460.50
Aug 1878.75 1994.50
Sept 915.50 864.25
Total £ 3609.00 4319.25

Shop
2018 2017

July 485.85 546.02
Aug 810.61 783.01
Sept 357.68 331.46
Total £ 1654.14 1660.49

Page 15



SAFFRON WALDEN MUSEUM CURATOR’S QUARTERLY REPORT  July – September 2018 

6

Shop
The Museum Visitor Services and Admin Officer, Wendy-Jo Atter, has introduced more new lines of ‘Saffron 
Walden Museum’ branded stock, including Lapel Pins and Children’s Stationery Packs which have already 
proved popular.  The shop is kept fully stocked during peak periods such as half term holidays and displays 
reflect current exhibitions. 

Donations
Due to limited access to the donations box over the holiday period, one sum for July and August has been 
calculated.  The figure for September includes £20 found in the ladies toilet in May 2017 and, since it has 
not been claimed and has been over one year since originally found, it has been deemed a ‘donation’. The 
downward trend in donations may reflect the charge introduced to cover materials for children’s holiday 
activities where previously a donation was requested.

Income from Learning & Outreach Services: total £820.50 this quarter

Schools Sessions Activities & 
Events

School Loan & 
Reminiscence Boxes

July £360 £0 £0
Aug £0 £178.50 £0
Sept £210 £0 £72

Total £ £570 £178.50 £72

4.4      Publicity, Marketing, Social Media and New Website 
Publicity and Marketing
Publication Advert Date / Notes
Select Traveller Magazine 1/4 page advert and editorial (Generic Museum) + 

on-line, social media
July issue

Walden Local 19x4 Advert in Schools Out issue July 18
Eastlife Magazine 1/2 page advert, On-line 500 words & Images; 

social media
August issue

East of England GROUP visitor 
guide

1/2 page advertisement (Generic Museum) Runs for a year

East of England Visitor guide 1/2 page advertisement (Generic Museum) Runs for a year
SW Town Council Official Guide 
and Map

Full page Advert & Editorial (Generic Museum) This will run for 2 
years

www.visitsaffronwalden.gov.uk Enhanced advert including hyperlinks (Generic 
Museum)

Runs for a year

Published Articles (in print and on-line)
Publication Article Date 
Saffron Walden Flyer Museum News and Object of the Month July issue
Saffron Walden Reporter Bake Off Winners July 5
Walden Local Trip Advisor “A wonderful surprise of a Museum” July 11
Walden Reporter Trip Advisor July 12
Walden Local Summer at Saffron Walden Museum article July 18Page 16



SAFFRON WALDEN MUSEUM CURATOR’S QUARTERLY REPORT  July – September 2018 

7

Walden Reporter Ideas for Days out in the summer holidays July 19
Saffron Walden Flyer Volunteers recognised at Tea Party, summer events  

and Object of the Month
August issue

Walden Local Old Branch Standard donation August 8
Apollo Magazine What’s On “Worlds Under Glass, Adventures in 

Taxidermy”
August 9

The Guardian Guide Don’t miss: Worlds under glass adventures in 
taxidermy

August 11

The Economist Expresso App Get Stuffed: Preserving Animals August 11
Walden Local “Adventures in Taxidermy” – New exhibition August 15
Walden Local Magnificent Masks at the Museum August 22
Bishop Stortford Independent Museums Taxidermy Exhibition is the stuff of 

fascination
August 22 

Uttlesford Life Worlds Under glass adventures in taxidermy Summer 2018
Art Quarterly Focus on Natural History, Saffron Walden Museum, 

“Worlds Under Glass” 
Summer 2018

Summer at the Museums What’s on at Saffron Walden Museum Summer 2018
Art Fund Website What’s on “Worlds Under Glass, Adventures in 

Taxidermy”
Summer 2018

Stitch Magazine ERTF – Collections Re-Crafted Exhibition September Issue
Uttlesford Resident Looking Back Section (Memories of SW) September Issue

Exhibition and Events listings
Exhibition and Events are advertised on the following 'What's On' listings (in print and on-line):
 Salad Days
 UDC Newsletter
 Bishops Stortford TIC
 Flyer Online

 Net Mums
 The Listing (Royston)
 Uttlesford Resident (ERTF exhibition)
 Embroidery Guild website (ERTF exhibition)

Social Media and Email Newsletter
Twitter Followers: 1934
Facebook Likes:   982
Instagram Followers :   269

Saffron Walden Museum Website – Statistics for this quarter
Visits Unique Visitors

July 2,134 1,733
Aug 2,573 2,028
Sept 1,852 1,355
TOTAL for Q2 6,559 5,116

Visits: the number of visits made by all visitors. (This could be described as the number of "sessions", 
implying the possibility of multiple pages per visit and multiple visits per unique visitor).

Unique Visitor: the number of persons or computers (hosts) that have made at least 1 hit on 1 page of the 
website during the current period. If a user makes several visits during this period, it is counted only once. Page 17



SAFFRON WALDEN MUSEUM CURATOR’S QUARTERLY REPORT  July – September 2018 

8

Visitors are tracked by IP address, so if multiple users are accessing the website from the same IP (such as a 
home or office network), they will be counted as a single unique visitor.

Trip Advisor 
The Museum now ranks number 2 out of 18 things to do in Saffron Walden on this travel and tourism 
review website.  The 120 reviews have been very positive; the most recent one in September gave 5/5 rating 
and stated: “Surprising gem of a museum. Really surprised by the museum contents considering the 
reasonable admission price. Definitely recommend popping in for a visit. Lots of activities for the kids too” 

5 Education, Events and Outreach

5.1   Education

Analysis of use of Learning Services and Pupil Numbers 
Children Adults 

No. of pupils in sessions taught by Learning Officer in Museum 108 15
No. of pupils in independent visits to Museum 0 0
No. of pupils taught in visits out to schools by Learning Officer 186 14
No. of pupils benefiting from loan boxes
(details in table below)

186 14 

Total users of Museum Learning Services = 480 43

Loan and Reminiscence boxes: 2 boxes used by a total of 186 children and 14 adults 
UsersBox Borrowers Purpose
Children Adults Total

Egypt: Gods RA Butler School Classroom resource 93 7 100
Saxons RA Butler School Classroom Resource 93 7 100

Totals 186 14 200
A further loan box on Local History has gone to Saffron Walden County High but will be returned and 
reported in the Oct-Dec quarter.

5.2     Events on-site (in Museum and grounds and at Shire Hill Store

Date Event Visitors
1O Aug Worlds Under Glass, Private View 53
15 Aug Magnificent Masks 39
22 Aug Mythical Beast Collage 49
24 Aug Saffron Walden Museum Society AGM with presentation by James 

Lumbard, Natural Sciences Officer about next years’ exhibition 
30

29 Aug Paper Taxidermy 31
15 Sep Roald Dahl Day 25
12 Sept Shirehill Store evening visit and tour: Takeley Local History Society 

(Curator,  Collections Officer, Museum Assistant)
16

13 Sept Group visit to Museum with short talk and tea, Cambridgeshire 
Association for Local History

20

18 Sept Toys and Games session with Library Professionals (High Stile Projects) 15
Total 278

Page 18



SAFFRON WALDEN MUSEUM CURATOR’S QUARTERLY REPORT  July – September 2018 

9

5.3    Outreach (Museum activities, talks and lectures at other venues)

Date Event No. 
Attending

8 Sept Saffron Walden Museum Society stall at Societies Day in Saffron Walden 
had a quiz featuring museum objects 

57

10 Sept Museum Society Talk, Adventures in taxidermy 47
24 Sept Costume exhibition text panels utilised by two school classes 60 

Total 164

Other Museums and Local Groups supported (Uttlesford) 5 groups supported, 4 meetings 
Museum staff have attended meetings, site visits, undertaken work or given advice to: 

 Special Roadside Verges project – 2 ecological surveys, comments on 6 planning applications, 
distributing Health and Safety equipment, SRV damaged by roadworks, utility work at SRV, autumn cut 
and 2018 verge reports (Natural Sciences Officer, S Kenyon)

 Sustainable Uttlesford - 1 meeting (Natural Sciences Officers, S Kenyon)
 Searchers metal-detecting club – 1 meeting (Curator)
 Saffron Walden Heritage Development Forum – 1 meeting / photo-shoot at Battle Ditches (Curator)
 Fry Art Gallery – 1 committee meetings (and 1 evening social event) (Curator)

Local Performance Indicators

Definition Q2 Actual Q2 Target Annual Target 
2018-19

Visitors   PI 22 SI 
12c

3,315 4,000 14,000

Users       PC 01 CI 
39

10,316 10,500 40,000

Notes on Performance Indicators

Visitors are all those visiting the Museum in person, including activities and events in the grounds. 
Users are all those engaging with the Museum Service in person or through other media, and include:
 those visiting the site (visitors, as above)
 those attending off-site events (e.g. talk or other off-site activity by Museum staff)
 those using the Museum ‘remotely’ (enquiries, research and services by phone, email, fax and letter and 

website visits using ‘Visits’) 

Comments on this quarter’s figures: 

Visitors: Visitors 17% under target despite lively exhibition programme and holiday activities. Long 
heatwave appears to have deterred visitors from indoor visits and there is anecdotal evidence from the 
museum sector that the weather may have affected museum visits generally.

Users: 2% below notional target due to drop in visitors as described above; website visits were actually 
slightly higher than Q1 and curatorial staff answered about twice as many collections enquiries as previous 
quarters.

Page 19



SAFFRON WALDEN MUSEUM CURATOR’S QUARTERLY REPORT  July – September 2018 

10

Main Museum activities and items to note for the next quarter (Oct-Dec 2018)

1 Museum Management and Staff

Changes to weekend and Bank Holiday staffing, as described in Q2 report, will be implemented with 
recruitment to the two new permanent Visitor Services Assistant (Weekend and Bank Holiday) posts.  

There will be refresher training for casual and weekend staff on fire regulations, Evac-Chair and health and 
safety in November. 

Support Worker provision for Sarah Kenyon, Natural Sciences Officer has yet to be resolved with the 
government agency. It is hoped that more progress will be made now input from HR has been received. 

The Curator will be re-engaging with the Heritage Lottery Fund about potential future applications.

2 Buildings and Site

Repairs and external repainting of all windows, doors and frames scheduled for early October. This requires  
the erection of scaffolding around all accessible areas of the Museum. Contractors will use the roof safety 
harness system to abseiling down the rear of the building where it backs on to Castle Street gardens. 

Repairs and repainting of water damaged and unsightly areas to the ceiling and upper walls of the Ceramics 
Gallery are planned.  For safety reasons, all glass and ceramic exhibits will be removed and stored in the 
Inorganics Store, after the social history collections currently stored there have been moved to Shirehill.

Investigation and repairs to intruder alarm wiring behind the Toys display is scheduled for early November.  
The Toy Case will be cleared of most exhibits for this operation and a redesigned display put in place on 
completion. A faulty CCTV camera near the fire exit will be replaced at the same time.

3 Collections and Research

Sculpture collections to be photographed and documented online as part of the Art UK regional and 
national sculpture cataloguing project, along similar lines to the Picture Cataloguing Foundation Oil 
Paintings project previously undertaken in 2006.   

Social History collections items in the Museum’s inorganic store to be catalogued and packed for move to 
Shirehill store, in preparation for work on the Ceramics Gallery. 

Deadstock freezer documentation will be addressed to create a costed plan for the use or rationalisation of 
the natural history specimens currently stored there.

Ongoing geology documentation project to catalogue items in the Shirehill Natural Sciences store and on 
display in the Geology gallery.

Potential new acquisitions: the Curator will be working with the Museum Society on funding for a number of 
potential new acquisitions for the archaeology collections including small items reported under the Treasure 
Act 1996 and some coins.

Page 20



SAFFRON WALDEN MUSEUM CURATOR’S QUARTERLY REPORT  July – September 2018 

11

4         Displays and Visitor Services 
New exhibition Collections Re-Crafted by members of the Eastern Region Textile Forum opens on Saturday 6 
October to the public, with private view on Friday 5 October

The retired 2nd standard of the Saffron Walden branch of the Royal British Legion will go on display over in 
November as our Object of the Month, commemorating the centenary of the end of the First World War.  

Display repairs and improvements in the Local History Gallery. The stone frieze will go back into position, 
railway and road signage which was in storage will be installed to replace a previous railway sign which was 
on loan and has now been returned and the existing Saffron Crocus display will be re-worked to 
accommodate the Piano hoard display moving into the gallery, from the Great Hall in January.  There will 
also be display improvements to the Toys and Games sections of the Costume and Textile Gallery, following 
re-wiring work. 

Piano Hoard display to be launched with reception by invitation for supporters on Friday 30 November and 
public display from 1 December

Your Stories (Community Showcase) display celebrating 250 years of Saffron Walden Horticultural Society 
being prepared, to go on public display in early January. 

Research work for the next special exhibition, Our Towns (working title) to open on February 2019, exploring 
the archaeology and early development of major centres of settlement past and present, in Uttlesford.

5    Education, Events and Outreach

New Signage design brief, to improve internal gallery signage,  will go to schools and colleges  in October. 
Creative Crafters children’s activities Half Term on the 24 and 25 October.
Museums at night on Friday 26 October. 
Schools take-over day in November.

School bookings so far:
Great Chesterford School visit – Toys and Games 2 October
Shalford School Visit on 22 October
Dame Bradbury School visit on 15 and 22 of November
Bentfield School Visit on 20 and 21 of November
Ridgewell School Visit on 16 of November 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Museum Society Chairman's Report
	4 Museum Curator's Quarterly Report July-Septmeber 2018

